2007

Kiley Miller and John Rzeczycki v. San Juan
County, a Utah Political Subdivision, Red Rock
4-Wheelers, Inc., and State of Utah by and through
the School and Institutional Trust Lands
Administration, and John and Jane Does 1-5 : Brief
of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

a. i) The Court below ruled that an Order in a prior case between these parties was binding on the parties in a new action, although the Order in the prior case read “this ruling applies only to this action and, except in this action, shall have no affect of legal or factual precedent, res judicata, collateral estoppel or other issue preclusion on the parties hereto, those in privity with them, or on any other persons or action.”

In its decision, the Court below relied on language in Utah R. Civ. P. 41(b). This is an error of law because Rule 41(b) is not applicable to the Order in the prior case which was a grant of summary judgment to the Defendants/Appellees, not a dismissal of an action.

ii) Standard of Review. The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's application of rule 41(b) for correctness. *C&Y Corp. v. Gen. Biometrics, Inc.*, 896 P.2d 47, 53 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

b. i) The Court below further held that the Order in the prior case was effective to create claim preclusion. This was also error because res judicata is claim preclusion, and res judicata was expressly withheld from the application of the Order in the prior case.

ii) Standard of Review. The determination of whether res judicata bars an action presents a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. *Macris & Assocs. v. Neways, Inc.*, 2000 UT 93, P17, 16 P.3d 1214.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Nature of the case: This appeal is from a final *Order of Dismissal with*

Prejudice issued by the Honorable Judge Lyle R. Anderson, in the Seventh Judicial District Court for San Juan County, Utah, on a motion to dismiss made by Defendants/Appellees

b Course of the proceedings Plaintiffs/Appellants (the ‘Landowners’) filed a complaint seeking declaratory, injunctive relief and damages for wrongful use of Plaintiffs’ land by the Defendants/Appellees (‘RR4W and the County’ or ‘Defendants’). The claims were essentially the same as those forming the basis of a prior case between the same parties, decided by the same lower Court in March 2006. The Defendants filed a *Motion to Dismiss Complaint with Prejudice*, arguing 1) issue preclusion, 2) res judicata, 3) no means of meaningful relief, and 4) bad faith on the parts of the Plaintiffs.

The Landowners opposed the *Motion to Dismiss*, noting the Order in the prior case provided that “this ruling applies only to this action and, except in this action, shall have no effect of legal or factual precedent, res judicata, collateral estoppel or other issue preclusion on the parties hereto, those in privity with them, or on any other persons or action.”

c Disposition at trial court The Court below issued its ruling granting the *Motion to Dismiss*, finding that the Order in the prior case “does not state that the Order is a dismissal without prejudice or that it does not operate as an adjudication upon the merits.” The Court below applied Rule 41(b) to its prior Order, and concluded that the order in the prior case is “most reasonably interpreted to eliminate any issue preclusion effect of the Order in any other dispute involving” these parties.

RELEVANT FACTS

All relevant facts are taken from the trial court's *Order of Dismissal with Prejudice (Order)*, which is attached to this Brief.

1. This case involves the same parties and the same claims as one previously decided by the same trial court in March 2005. *Order* at 1.

2. The Order in the prior case contained the following language in its paragraph 2(c): "This ruling applies only to this action and, except in this action, shall have no affect of legal or factual precedent, res judicata, collateral estoppel or other issue preclusion on the parties hereto, those in privity with them, or on any other persons or action." *Order* at 2.

3. The Order in the prior case was a grant of summary judgment in favor of the Defendants/Appelles. *Order* at 3.¹

The issues presented in this appeal turn on the meaning of the language in paragraph 2(c) of the Order in the prior case.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Landowners argue that:

¹ The Order in the prior case strangely held that the Plaintiffs had acquired the property subject to a temporary easement of indefinite duration. *Order* at 2. One strains to understand how a temporary easement can be of indefinite duration. The Trial Court so held in spite of the fact that no easement was recorded against the property when Plaintiffs purchased the property, that Red Rock 4-Wheeler and San Juan County failed to seek a permanent easement when they could have, that SITLA denied having any obligation to grant such an easement (and denying that the statute in question provides for such an easement), and that public notice was given by SITLA that the property was being sold and that the temporary easement would thus be extinguished.

1. Rule 41(b) does not apply to the Order in the prior case because Rule 41(b) applies to dismissals and the Order in the prior case granted summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56. Rule 41(b) must be interpreted in accordance with the plain language of the Rule.

2. Even if Rule 41(b) did apply to the Order in the prior case, the language of paragraph 2(c) of that order specifically limited the application of the Order in future cases. The language of paragraph 2(c) is clear and unambiguous, and limits the application of the Order by providing that the ruling is to have no affect of legal or factual precedent, no res judicata, no collateral estoppel, and no issue preclusion on the parties to the first case.

3. Trial courts have the power to limit the preclusive effect of rulings, and to curtail the application of res judicata and claim preclusion.

DETAILS OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Rule 41(b) does not apply to the Order in the prior case, and its application was error.

Rule 41(b) applies to dismissal of actions. *See text of Rule 41(b) in Addendum.* Courts interpreting Rule 41 do so according to the plain language of the Rule. *First Equity Fed., Inc. v. Phillips Dev., LC*, 2002 UT 56 ¶¶ 13 and 16; 52 P.3d 1137 (we therefore construe Rule 41 ... to mean exactly what it says”); *Beaver County v. Qwest, Inc.*, 2001 UT 81 ¶ 19; 31 P.3d 1147.

The Rule is titled “Dismissal of actions.” Rule 41(b) applies when a defendant moves for dismissal of a claim upon failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with

the rules of evidence or to obey any order of the court. It also applies when the court is the trier of fact as when a matter is tried to the court without a jury, and the court determines that the plaintiff has not met its burden of proof.

Courts applying Rule 41(b) must weigh the evidence and decide its sufficiency. *Southern Title Guar. Co. v. Bethers*, 761 P.2d 951 (Utah App. 1988); *Handy v. Union Pacific R.R.*, 841 P. 2d 1210 (Utah App. 1992). The procedure for a court to grant summary judgment is completely different. A court granting summary judgment is specifically precluded from weighing the evidence, and can only grant summary judgment if there are no issues of material facts. *See e.g. W. M. Barnes Co. v. Sohio Natural resources Co.*, 627 P. 2d 56 (Utah 1981). Because the Order in the prior case was a grant of summary judgment, Rule 41(b) did not apply to that Order.

2. The language of the Order in the prior case limits its res judicata and claim preclusion effect.

Paragraph 2(c) of the Order in the prior case specifically limits the application of that Order. That language is clear, and on its face, allows the filing of this new action. The ruling is to have no affect of legal or factual precedent, no res judicata, no collateral estoppel, and no issue preclusion on the parties to the first case. Specifically, the language of paragraph 2(c) states:

This ruling applies only to this action and, except in this action, shall have no affect of legal or factual precedent, res judicata, collateral estoppel or other issue preclusion on the parties hereto, those in privity with them, or on any other persons or action.

That language says that the ruling shall have no legal affect on the parties, “except in this [First Case]”. The First Case ended when the time for appeal on that case expired. The language of Paragraph 2C specifically precludes the application of “res judicata, collateral estoppel or other issue preclusion” to the parties in any subsequent action. “Except in this [First Case]” the order has no legal affect “on the parties hereto”.

The Court below concluded that if the Order in the previous case was interpreted as suggested by the Landowners, the Order in the previous case would have no effect in resolving the claims presented in that case. *Order* at 4. The Landowners submit that is exactly the effect of the plain language of paragraph 2(c) of the Order in the prior case.

In its holding the Trial Court reasoned that the language in paragraph 2(c) is “most reasonably interpreted to eliminate any issue preclusion effect of the Order in any other dispute” between the parties, noting that “the parties were understandably concerned about the effect of the Order on any other disputes that might arise.” *Id* at 3-4. The Trial Court may have been right had the language of paragraph 2(c) provided that the Order would ‘not have res judicata effect as to any future issues, not decided in this Order, which may arise between the parties and their privies.’ But that is not what the Order in the prior case provides. It does not limit itself to future claims not adjudicated in the first case. It states quite clearly that the ruling applies only to that action, not to the issues raised in that action.

The Trial Court also observed that it would not have signed the prior Order if any one had “hinted that the order failed to [operate as an adjudication on the merits, and

finally resolve this dispute between these parties].” *Order* at 3. No matter what the Court intended, the Order reads as written, and the interpretation suggested by the Trial Court and by the Defendants is more than a perfunctory or clerical mistake the Court can correct on its own motion. *See Meagher v. Equity Oil Co.*, 299 P. 2d 827 (1956).

Nor is this a situation where the Trial Court can, by operation of its *Order* in the second case, modify pursuant to Rule 60(b), its order entered in the first case. The language in paragraph 2(c), whatever its intent, should be interpreted on its own plain meaning at this juncture.

3. Trial Courts have the authority to limit the preclusive effect of decisions.

As observed by Justice Blakmun, concurring in *Federated Department Stores v. Moitie*, 452 U.S. 394 (1981), “there are cases in which the doctrine of res judicata must give way to ... overriding concerns of public policy and simple justice.” Justice Blakmun also quoted from Moore’s Federal Practice that “just as res judicata is occasionally qualified by an overriding, competing principle of public policy, so occasionally it needs an equitable tempering.”

The argument that res judicata is not without its exceptions, is not foreign to Utah jurisprudence. Utah law recognizes that defining the scope of a claim or cause of action is not an exact science, and that claim preclusion may at times be driven by the relative importance of the finality of the prior judgment. *See American Estate Mgmt Corps v. International Inv. & Dev. Corps*, 1999 UT App 232, 986 P.2d 765. Moreover, Utah courts have also recognized that in some situation judicial economy and the convenience

afforded by the finality of legal controversies do not override other concerns. *See e.g. In re J.J.T.*, 877 P.2d 161 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).