2007

Kiley Miller and John Rzeczycki v. San Juan
County, a Utah Political Subdivision, Red Rock
4-Wheelers, Inc., and State of Utah by and through
the School and Institutional Trust Lands
Administration, and John and Jane Does 1-5 : Brief
of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The First Action's March 22, 2006 order is clear on its face. Paragraph 2.C. of the order clearly states that the trial court's ruling applies to the claims decided in the First Action and that *res judicata*, collateral estoppel and other issue preclusion apply to the claims decided in the First Action, as "this action" is expressly excepted from the non-application of issue preclusion to other actions. Only as to claims not ruled upon in the First Action would *res judicata*, collateral estoppel and other issue preclusion not apply.

2. The record fully supports the clear meaning of paragraph 2.C. of the March 22, 2006 order.

3. Appellants' Second Action involves the same parties and the same claims that were finally disposed by the March 22, 2006 and June 19, 2006 orders in the First Action. Therefore, the Second Action was barred by *res judicata* and the Second Action was properly dismissed with prejudice.

4. Appellants' complaint in the Second Action, by failing to assert claims against SITLA, was futile and therefore properly dismissed with prejudice.

5. Appellants' complaint in the Second Action, by failing to assert claims against SITLA, while nominally naming SITLA, was filed in bad faith and therefore properly dismissed with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. Appellants' Complaint Was Properly Dismissed because Appellants' Claims Are Barred by Res Judicata.⁴

A. Introduction.

This is an appeal from the Second Action Appellants have filed regarding the Strike Ravine Trail road, which intersects real property Appellants are purchasing from the Utah School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration ("SITLA"). Previously, over two and one-half years in the First Action, the trial court finally adjudicated Appellants' claims regarding the Strike Ravine Trail in the First Action, case number 040700037. The First Action involved Appellants filing two premature, dismissed appeals that delayed the case. The First Action also involved Appellants belatedly filing a third appeal after the expiration of the 30 day time period, unsuccessfully moving the trial court to extend the time for

⁴ This point rebuts Appellants' second argument. Appellants' Br. 8-10.

appeal, and then failing to file any appeal of the trial court's denial of Appellants' motion to extend the time for appeal.⁵

Having failed to appeal the Court's final judgment in the First Action, Appellants filed the Second Action. Appellants concede that the Second Action "involves the same parties and the same claims as" the First Action. Appellants' Br. at 6. Without providing any relevant background or context to the Court, Appellants assert that they may de novo re-litigate the matters resolved in the First Action, thereby burdening Appellees and the judicial system with years more of litigation. Appellants' assertion is based on language in the First Action's March 22, 2006 order that states:

C. This ruling applies only to this action and, except in this action, shall have no affect of legal or factual precedent, res judicata, collateral estoppel or other issue preclusion on the parties hereto, those in privity with them, or on any other persons or actions.

The trial court in the Second Action properly rejected Appellant's attempt to misconstrue the trial court's order in the First Action. R. 337-40. The trial court correctly ruled that the order language did not authorize de novo litigation of the case, stating, "Paragraph 2.C. is most reasonably interpreted to eliminate any

⁵ A true copy of the First Action's docket is found at R. 37-51. Record citations to these events are set forth in Appellee's statement of the case, *supra*.

“issue preclusion” effects of the order in any other dispute involving SITLA, RR4W, the County or Plaintiffs.” R. 339-40.

In its March 22, 2006 ruling in the First Action the trial court had noted that the language was “the best language available to describe the present application of the law to the facts in this case” (R. 252), given the “most puzzling scenario” (R. 250), that had occurred in the First Action. Appellees in sub-point C will explain the First Action’s puzzling procedural scenario, something that was Appellant’s duty in marshaling the facts for its appeal, but which Appellants have utterly failed to do. Initially, however, Appellees show that the order is clear on its face and thereby bars Appellants from re-litigating the First Action. R. 339-40.

B. The March 22, 2006 Order Is Clear on Its Face.

Paragraph 2.C. of the March 22, 2006 order clearly states that the trial court’s ruling applies to the claims decided in the First Action and that res judicata, collateral estoppel and other issue preclusion apply to the claims decided in the First Action, since “this action” is expressly excepted from the non-application of issue preclusion to other actions. Only as to claims not ruled upon in the First Action would res judicata, collateral estoppel and other issue preclusion not apply. In its ruling in the Second Action the trial court correctly stated, “Paragraph 2.C. is most reasonably interpreted to eliminate any “issue preclusion” effects of the order

in any other dispute involving SITLA, RR4W, the County or Plaintiffs.” R. 339-40.

As discussed below the parties had litigated only claims specifically related to the Strike Ravine Trail and the ruling’s res judicata effect was to be limited to these claims. The ruling would not apply to any other routes that may have been affected by sales of land by SITLA where SITLA may have similarly failed to give RR4W and the County due process notice and opportunity to protect their easement rights. The language is straightforward and Appellants cannot unilaterally endow the order with an absurd meaning. *Cf. Buehner Block Company v. UWC Associates*, 752 P.2d 892, 895(Utah 1988): “[T]erms are not necessarily ambiguous simply because one party seeks to endow them with a different meaning than that relied upon by the drafter.”

C. The Record Shows Appellants’ Construction of the Order to Be Untenable.

Appellants undertook to purchase 160 acres from SITLA under a certificate of sale. R. 64. The 160 acres were within a school section granted to the State at statehood. Roads, including a route known as the Strike Ravine Trail, passed through and over portions of the 160 acres. Around the school section adjoining lands are held by the United States Bureau of Land Management. Rights-of-way by prescription could be created over the adjoining BLM lands pursuant to federal

law R.S. 2477. However, it is unclear whether public or private rights-of-way by prescription may be obtained over Utah sovereign lands absent express statutory authority. The Utah legislature addressed the issue by in 1992 enacting the “Rights-of-Way Across State Lands” act, Utah Code § 72-5-201, *et seq.* The act authorizes “temporary easements” and “permanent easements” over State trust lands. The provision regarding temporary easements, Utah Code § 72-5-203(1), states:

(1) (a) (i) Subject to Section 53C-1-302 and Subsection 53C-1-204(1), a temporary public easement or right of entry is granted for each highway existing prior to January 1, 1992, that terminates at or within or traverses any state lands and that has been constructed and maintained or used by a responsible authority.

...

(b) Each easement shall remain in effect through June 30, 2004, or until a permanent easement or right of entry has been established under Subsection (2), whichever is greater.

Temporary easements under the statute, thus, are by express grant, with the condition of such grant being only that the highway existed prior to January 1, 1992, traverses state lands and has been constructed, maintained, or used by a responsible authority.⁶

⁶ ““Responsible authority’ means any private party, the state of Utah, or a political subdivision of the state ...” Utah Code § 72-5-202.

RR4W and its members had used the Strike Ravine Trail prior to January 1, 1992 as had San Juan County and its citizens. On the eve of the 2004 Jeep Safari, Appellants filed the First Action against Appellees claiming that Appellants' purchase of the 160 acres had extinguished any rights in existing roads on the property. Appellants moved the trial court to enjoin RR4W's use of the Strike Ravine Trail during the Jeep Safari. The trial court denied the injunction, finding, *inter alia*, that SITLA had not used due process notice or procedures necessary to extinguish temporary easements.⁷ This due process ruling was the trial court's continuing law of the case and therewith meant that SITLA had retained the right

⁷ R. 213-15. Due process requires that before a forfeiture may occur notice must be given by a method "reasonably calculated, under all of the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections." *Dusenbery v. United States*, 534 U.S. 161, 168-69 (2002), citing and affirming *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306 (1950). Since SITLA never gave any notice reasonably calculated to apprise Appellees that their temporary easements were subject to forfeiture and never gave Appellees an opportunity to preserve their rights, there could be no lawful forfeiture. Appellees' temporary easements remained on the property after SITLA's sale to Appellants. Conversely, the involved statute and existing road put Appellants on inquiry notice that the Strike Ravine trail was a temporary easement. Inquiry notice "is presumed because of the fact that a person has knowledge of certain facts which should impart to him, or lead him to, knowledge of the ultimate fact." *First Am. Title Ins. Co. v. J.B. Ranch, Inc.*, 966 P.2d 834, 837 (Utah 1998) (quoting 66 C.J.S. Notice § 6 (1950)). SITLA subsequently adopted Rule 850-80 to address this obvious due process deficiency. R. 216-218. Rule 850-80-250 sets forth specific due process requirements that SITLA must adhere to before it may extinguish temporary easements as part of any conveyance of SITLA lands; requirements that were not followed regarding the Strike Ravine Trail. R. 193-94

and duty to grant permanent easements to Appellees under Utah Code § 72-5-203(1).

After considering cross-motions for partial summary judgment, the trial court ruled on March 3, 2005 that under § 72-5-203(1) RR4W and the County both owned temporary easements over the Strike Ravine Trail over Appellants' property. R. 112; paragraph 2.A.

Throughout the First Action litigation Appellants contended that Appellees could never receive a permanent easement under Utah Code § 72-5-203(2), asserting that Defendant's right to a permanent easement was lost when SITLA sold the property to Appellants without expressly reserving the Strike Ravine Trail. The trial court rejected this argument as reflected by paragraphs 2.B. and 2.C. of its March 3, 2005 ruling:

B. The temporary easement exists until a permanent easement is established under Section 72-5-203(2), Utah Code. The parties concede that fair market value for a permanent easement must be paid. Because the School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration ("SITLA") is not a party to this case, the court cannot determine at this time whether compensation for the easement should be paid to SITLA or plaintiffs. The court also cannot determine whether SITLA or plaintiffs has standing to dispute the value placed on the permanent easement or make the determination referred to in Section 72-5-203(2)(c), Utah Code.

C. This court does not believe that defendants can postpone indefinitely petitioning for establishment of the permanent easement. The Court encourages the parties, in cooperation with SITLA, to agree upon a timetable for establishing the permanent easement and determining the fair

value thereof. In the absence of agreement, the court will intervene to set deadlines and mechanisms for resolving this matter at the invitation of any party.

R. 112-13.

SITLA, contrary to the trial court's position, took the position that it could not grant a permanent easement once it had sold the property to Appellants. R. 126. As a result Appellees moved to join SITLA to the action to compel SITLA to grant permanent easements to Appellees. R. 46, 115. The Court ordered SITLA joined as a third party defendant and SITLA was duly served with process.

To extricate itself from the case, SITLA immediately moved the trial court to modify the March 3, 2005 order. R. 149. In Point II of its memorandum SITLA moved the trial court to amend its March 3 2005 Order to "find that the 'temporary' easement encumbered the property as an existing right, and that the same continues to exist indefinitely so long as the property does not revert to the State."⁸ R. 162.

Appellants filed a joinder that expressly joined in SITLA's memorandum point II even though such joinder eliminated any mechanism for the trial court to make Appellants whole.⁹ Appellees filed a motion and memorandum accepting SITLA's

⁸ See Note 3.

⁹ The trial court's March 22, 2006 ruling stated, "The Court invited the inclusion of SITLA ... because SITLA could be the agency [to which Appellees could apply and pay for a permanent easement]. ... The Court was also concerned that SITLA might have some responsibility to the Owners ... At the latest hearing, the Owners

“indefinite duration temporary easement” offer and moved the trial court to amend the order accordingly. Faced with unanimous stipulation of the parties the trial court amended its March 3, 2005 order (R. 111) by its order dated March 22, 2007 (R. 254) to provide that Appellees’ temporary easements would remain indefinitely until the property might revert to SITLA.

It was in the process of carefully stipulating to SITLA’s proposed modification of the March 3, 2005 order that Appellees proposed the substitute paragraph 2.B. and paragraph 2.C. language that came to be in the Court’s March 22, 2006 order. Appellees, for purposes of the Strike Ravine Trail over Appellants’ property only, accepted SITLA’s and Appellants’ position that SITLA could not grant a permanent easement -- even though this was contrary to the trial court’s due process/permanent easement law of the case. Appellees so stipulated because: 1) Appellees’ temporary easements in the current action would continue indefinitely until SITLA might at some time reacquire the property, and, if SITLA were to reacquire the property, Defendant’s temporary easements would then be subject to conversion to permanent easements under the statute;¹⁰ and, 2) in any other dispute involving property sold by SITLA without due process to Appellees,

made it clear that they do not intend to participate with the County and Red Rock in a process to determine the value of a permanent easement ...”
R. 251.

Appellees would not be bound by collateral estoppel from again arguing lack of due process and that SITLA remains able to grant a permanent easement where it has not extinguished a temporary easement through due process notice and procedures.¹¹

In their joint memorandum Appellees explained the need for the Paragraph 2.C. language that Appellants now misconstrue. Appellees stated:

Plaintiffs and third party defendant SITLA have both asserted the position that it is impossible for Defendants to obtain a permanent easement from SITLA after sale of the property under a Certificate of Sale ("the Position").¹² [note 1 in original]

The Position assumes that Defendants cannot, under any circumstances, obtain a permanent easement where the property has already been sold under certificate because SITLA's Certificate of Sale "conveyed all relevant executory rights" and SITLA retained "only bare legal title" with no "right or ability to convey a permanent easement." SITLA Mem. at 6-8.

¹⁰ Paragraph 1.C. of March 22, 2006 order amending paragraph 2.B. of March 3, 2005 order and paragraph 2 of March 22, 2006 order. R. 254.

¹¹ Paragraph 1.D. of March 22, 2006 order amending paragraph 2.C. of March 3, 2005 order. R. 254.

¹²[Note 1] *Plaintiff's Objection to Proposed Order*, dated February 14, 2005, at page 2, "... it is plaintiffs' contention that [Defendants'] opportunity [to obtain a permanent right-of-way] passed with the sale of the property ..." SITLA's *Memorandum in Support of (1) Rule 54(b) Motion to Modify March 3, 2005 Order and (2) Rule 12(b) Motion to Dismiss the Third Party Complaints of Red Rock 4-Wheeler's, Inc. and San Juan County*, at page 10, "SITLA cannot grant a permanent easement because it has nothing left to grant." RR4W's *Supplemental Complaint and Third Party Complaint* alleges at paragraphs 6 and 19 that SITLA has taken this position.

Accordingly, under the Position, SITLA has no discretion to consider whether to grant a non-existent permanent easement.

Defendants, while not agreeing with the Position, and believing that the Court also holds a contrary view of the law, is willing to accept the Position for purposes of this litigation only so long as acceptance of the Position carries with it necessary amendments of the Order and with Plaintiffs and SITLA bearing the necessary consequences of the Position.

The Position necessarily means that neither SITLA nor Plaintiffs claim the right to be paid for a permanent easement, since both SITLA and Plaintiffs contend that there is, or can be, no permanent easement. Therefore, under the Position, paragraph 2.B. of the Order is not necessary.

The Position further necessarily means that SITLA and Plaintiffs are permanently estopped to contend that Defendants must apply for permanent easements, since under the Position there could not exist permanent easements for which Defendants might apply. Therefore, under the Position, paragraph 2.C. of the Order is not necessary.

As the result of the Position paragraphs 2.B. and 2.C. of the Order should be stricken. A new Paragraph 2.B. should be inserted to state,

B. Plaintiffs acquired the property subject to the temporary easement. The temporary easement exists until a permanent easement is established under Section 72-5-203(2). Under Plaintiff's and SITLA's position no permanent easement can be granted (unless the property reverts to SITLA). This means that the temporary easement is of indefinite duration. Only if Plaintiffs were to forfeit under the certificate of sale or if SITLA were to otherwise resume all equitable as well as legal title would RR4W and the County potentially be able to apply for a permanent easement."

It must be understood that this ruling would only apply to this action and would not serve as precedent. A new Paragraph 2.C. should be inserted to state,

C. This ruling applies only to this action and, except in this action, shall have no affect of legal or factual precedent, res judicata, collateral estoppel or other issue preclusion on

the parties hereto, those in privity with them, or on any other persons or actions.

Having assumed the Position, SITLA and Plaintiffs cannot object to this result. ...

R. 183-185, underlined emphases added. The above discussion and particularly the highlighted language explains how and why the involved language came to be included in the trial court's order of March 22, 2006, which amended the March 3, 2005 order. Noting the "puzzling scenario" before it, the trial court in the First Action signed the proposed order submitted by Appellees as "the best language available to describe the present application of the law to the facts in this case." R. 250-51.

In its ruling dismissing the Second Action the trial court stated, The Court correctly stated:

Paragraph 2.C. is most reasonably interpreted to eliminate any "issue preclusion" effects of the order in any other dispute involving SITLA, RR4W, the County or Plaintiffs. Because of the peculiar and puzzling nature of this dispute the parties were understandably concerned about the effect of the Order on any other disputes that might arise. However, they clearly intended that the order have "claim preclusion" in "this action," namely Civil No. 0407-27 (sic). To read paragraph 2.C. as Plaintiffs advocate would mean that the Order had no effect in resolving the claims presented in Civil No. 0407-37."

R. 339. The trial court emphasized, "This court certainly intended its [First Action] decision, reached only after several hearings, and mind-bending analysis of the pertinent statutes, would operate as an adjudication on the merits, and finally

resolve this dispute between the parties.” R. 339. Accordingly, the trial court correctly dismissed the Second Action.

D. The Court’s Final Order in the First Action Bars Appellants’ Claims as Res Judicata.

Appellants acknowledge that the Second Action involved the same parties and the same claims that were finally adjudicated in the First Action. Appellants’ Br. 6. Therefore, Appellants’ Second Action was barred by Res Judicata. The Supreme Court addressed res judicata in *Snyder v. Murray City Corp.*, 2003 UT 13; 73 P.3d 325, 332, stating:

¶33 "The doctrine of res judicata serves the important policy of preventing previously litigated issues from being relitigated.' Res judicata encompasses two distinct doctrines: claim preclusion and issue preclusion." See *Miller v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2002 UT 6, ¶ 57, 44 P.3d 663 (quoting *Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline Corp.*, 913 P.2d 731, 733 (Utah 1995), and citing *Macris & Assocs., Inc. v. Neways, Inc.*, 2000 UT 93, ¶ 19, 16 P.3d 1214).

¶34 "Generally, 'claim preclusion bars a party from prosecuting in a subsequent action a claim that has been fully litigated previously.'" *Miller*, 2002 UT 6 at ¶ 58 (quoting *Culbertson v. Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 2001 UT 108, ¶ 13, 44 P.3d 642). In order for a claim to be precluded under this doctrine the party seeking preclusion must establish three elements:

"First, both cases must involve the same parties or their privies. Second, the claim that is alleged to be barred must have been presented in the first suit or be one that could and should have been raised in the first action. Third, the first suit must have resulted in a final judgment on the merits."

Miller, 2002 UT 6 at ¶ 58 (quoting *Macris & Assocs.*, 2000 UT 93 at ¶ 20) (further citation omitted).

All three elements for claim preclusion are present in this action. The parties and claims in the Second Action are the same as in the First Action. The First Action resulted in a final adjudication of the Strike Ravine Trail issues as intended by the parties and the trial court. R. 266-67, 339. Appellants failed to timely appeal that final adjudication and failed to appeal the trial court's denial of Appellants' motion to extend the time for filing an appeal. R. 268-308. Appellants cannot again litigate the same claims.

II. Appellants' First Argument Is a Red Herring. The March 22, 2006 Order Was Not Final on March 22, 2006 and Resulted from Stipulation of the Parties, Not from a Summary Judgment.

Appellants' first argument, Appellants' Br. 7-8, ignores the procedural history of the First Action. When the trial court signed the March 22, 2006 order modifying the March 3, 2005 order, the First Action was not yet final as there remained claims and counterclaims unresolved by the trial court. These remaining claims included the first cause of action of Appellants' amended complaint (regarding the Helldorado Trail) and the second and third causes of action of RR4W's and the County's counterclaims. In fact, Appellants second premature appeal, which followed entry of the March 22, 2006 order, was dismissed because the trial court's dispositive Strike Ravine Trail orders (the March 3, 2005 order as

modified by the March 22, 2006 order) were not final so long as unresolved claims were pending.¹³ R. 49-50.

Appellants and Appellees stipulated, and the trial court ordered, by order entered June 19, 2006, that the remaining claims and counterclaims were dismissed without prejudice. R. 266-67. Pursuant to such order the March 22, 2006 order, effective June 19, 2007, became final with prejudice. Appellants so understood since 1) it was necessary for Appellants to have the trial court's March 22, 2006 order become final in order for the Strike Ravine Trail claim to be ripe for appeal, and 2) Appellants filed a notice of appeal on July 31, 2006 (R. 50), something they would not have done had they not considered themselves bound by the trial court's Strike Ravine Trail orders.

Further, the March 22, 2006 order did not result from a summary judgment ruling (as had the March 3, 2005 order). Rather, the March 22, 2006 order resulted from the parties' stipulation that the March 3, 2005 order would be modified and that SITLA would be dismissed as a party. R. 47-48, 148-189, 219-252.

Appellants, without condition, joined in SITLA's motion to modify the March 3, 2005 order, and stipulated to SITLA's dismissal from the First Action necessitating the trial court's rulings. R. 48, 188. Appellants' argument is simply

¹³ See this Court's May 25, 2006 Memorandum Decision dismissing Appeal No. 20060331-CA.

an unfounded collateral attack in lieu of their failure to timely file an appeal in the First Action.

III. Appellants' Third Argument Was Not Presented to the Trial Court and Has No Basis under Utah law.

Appellees object to Appellants' third ("equitable exception") argument, Appellants' Br. 10-11, as this argument was not presented to the trial court and thus was not preserved for consideration in this appeal. *Tschaggeny v. Millbank Insurance Company*, 2007 UT 37, 163 P.3d 615, 620. Without waiving their objection Appellees respond as follows.

Appellants invited the trial court's rulings in the First Action, joining in SITLA's motion to amend the March 3, 2005 order. Appellants declined the trial court's affordance of a remedy involving SITLA and stipulated to SITLA's dismissal. Appellants received just what they asked for before they failed to timely appeal the March 22, 2006 order and failed to appeal the trial court's denial of an extension of time to file an appeal. This scenario would not present an equitable foundation for avoidance of the doctrine of res judicata, if, *arguendo*, there were such a doctrine in Utah. Appellant's naming SITLA a party in the Second Action while yet again asking no relief against SITLA likewise cuts hard against any plea to equity.¹⁴

¹⁴ Discussed in following points.

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